NO. 67518-4-I

IN THE WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I

SABRINA RASMUSSEN

Plaintiff/Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Defendant/Respondent.

APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT NO. 10-2-30307-3 KNT

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

VAN SICLEN, STOCKS, & FIRKINS Tyler K. Firkins Arnold Jin Attorneys for Appellant 721 45th St NE Auburn, WA 98002-1381 (253) 859-8899

e-mail:

tfirkins@vansiclen.com ajin@vansiclen.com

I. INTRODUCTION

On May 31, 2000, eleven year old Sabrina Rasmussen had her first sexual experience. While she was walking to school, someone approached and threatened to stab Sabrina, forced her into a truck and took her to a remote area near the Fort Lewis base in Pierce County. CP 207. The kidnapper bound Ms. Rasmussen's eyes, mouth and hands, ripped her clothes off, and raped her vaginally, anally, and orally. CP 207 at ¶ 2. Following the rape, Sabrina was left blindfolded, with her hands still bound with duct tape near Fort Lewis before she was picked up by a soldier close to the highway and taken to Mary Bridge Hospital. CP 208 at ¶ 4.

Sabrina's injuries were so severe that she required stitches running from her vagina to her anus to repair the damage. CP 208 at ¶ 4. She currently still has intermittent severe pelvic pain. The rapes left Sabrina suffering terror and flashbacks that lasted years, prevented her from finishing school, and continue to limit her employment opportunities even now because she has difficulty commuting or working alone. CP 207-210.

The man that raped Sabrina Rasmussen was Terapon Adhahn. In 1990, he was convicted of first-degree incest for the violent rape of his half-sister. CP 241-246. In 1992, while under supervision for the 1990 crime, he was convicted of intimidation with a weapon for chasing another

man outside a bar with a gun. CP 258-268, CP 353-355. After raping Sabrina, in 2004 and 2005, Adhahn repeatedly raped a 12 year old girl whom he had "purchased" from her mother for \$2,000. CP 458-465, CP 466-484. Adhahn is also a leading suspect in the 2005 kidnapping and murder of Adre'anna Jackson, who was around 11 at the time of the rape. CP 430-435. Finally, in 2007, Mr. Adhahn was apprehended after kidnapping, raping, and murdering 12 year old Zina Linnik. CP 278-281.

Adhahn was a noncitizen under Department of Corrections ("DOC") community supervision program for seven years between 1990 and 1997 after being convicted of first-degree incest for the violent rape of his half-sister. CP 241-246. The case had originally been charged as second-degree rape, but was pled down to first-degree incest after the victim's family pressured her not to cooperate. CP 485-488, CP 489-491. A pre-sentencing psychological evaluation diagnosed Adhahn with Paraphilia, Pedophilia (Prepubescent Female), Sadism and Rape, Dysthymia, Alcoholism, and a Personality Disorder with Borderline Paranoid Features, characterized him as devious and manipulative, and concluded that long-term monitoring of Adhahn's behavior was necessary to "ensure the safety of the community." CP 247-257. The report also noted that Adhahn had first molested his half-sister when he was twelve and she was 3, indicating longstanding sexual pathology. CP 247-257.

The evaluator specifically recommended intensive weekly individual and group psychotherapy monitored by polygraph and penile plethysmograph for "many years," sobriety because "under the influence of alcohol, he would be at extreme risk for further assaultive behavior," and "ongoing and active probation supervision...to ensure there is no relapse in his alcoholism and control of his anger and sexual impulses," with "immediate court review of his probation" for any substance abuse violation. CP 247-257.

Although Adhahn's Community Corrections Officers ("CCOs") should have been aware of this information and should have realized that Adhahn was a dangerous offender requiring close supervision for the safety of the community, they subjected him to a remarkably lax course of supervision. CP 213, CP 215. For example:

—Adhahn's sentence required him to successfully complete alcohol treatment. Adhahn's alcohol treatment provider required him to attend Alcoholics Anonymous ("AA") regularly and obtain a sponsor. CP 241-246, CP 442-443. Adhahn never attended AA or found a sponsor, and, on polygraphs available to CCOs, stated that he was "drinking up to a six pack a night" on weekends. CP 241-246, CP 442-443, CP 345-352. Adhahn's CCO's did not report him to the supervising court for violating his judgment and sentence by failing to successfully complete alcohol treatment. In fact, nothing in the supervision records indicates that the CCOs pursued this matter with Adhahn at all. CP 214-219 at ¶ 10.

—As a condition of his felony conviction, Adhahn was prohibited from possessing firearms, and had been notified of that fact by the DOC, CP 448. On August 17, 1992, Adhahn's CCOs received a report from the Washington State Patrol that Adhahn had been arrested on June 21, 1992 "for weapon." CP 451. Nothing was done. The offender chronological reports, which are by policy a complete record of the CCO's actions regarding the offender, reflect no action. CP 221 at ¶ 14. Under regular DOC practice, the CCOs should have obtained and reviewed the arrest report. CP 214-219 at ¶ 10. There is no indication that they did. Id. Had they done so, they would have learned that on June 21, 1992, outside a bar, Adhahn chased another man while aiming a gun at him, and that the victim injured himself running from Adhahn and feared for his life, CP 258-268. Based on this information, the CCOs should have detained Adhahn and reported to the court that Adhahn had violated both the firearms condition and likely the alcohol treatment condition of his sentence. CP 214-219 at ¶ 10. In 1997, when the supervising court specifically ordered the State to inform the court of any new convictions, Adhahn's CCOs again failed to notify the court of the 1992 crime. CP 258-268 (police reports from brandishing incident, indicating that Adhahn's victims feared for their lives); CP 269-270 (order directing the State to search for new convictions and report them to the Court); CP 271-275 (verbatim report of proceedings showing no discussion of 1992 conviction).

—Adhahn was not a U.S. citizen. Although it is standard practice for CCOs supervising noncitizens to establish and maintain contact with immigration authorities, Adhahn's CCO failed to do so. CP 214, CP 216 at ¶¶ 9, 10(c).

—Although it is a CCO's duty to verify and compel sex offender registration, Adhahn's CCOs failed to ensure that he re-registered when he moved, and failed to pursue him for failure to register. CP 217. This was so even after Pierce County included Adhahn on a list of absconded sex offenders sent to DOC. CP 450.

—Although Adhahn's sentencing conditions specified that he should get five years of *inpatient* sex offender treatment, he got neither individual nor inpatient treatment—only weekly sessions of group therapy. CP 241-246, CP 214 at ¶ 10(a).

The court below committed an error of law when it granted the State's motion for summary judgment. There are genuine issues of material fact with respect to both duty and proximate cause; it was error to dismiss the case.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court committed an error of law by granting the State's motion for summary judgment.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

- A. Does the State have a duty to properly supervise dangerous offenders in accordance with the Supreme Court's holding in *Joyce v. State*? (Assignment of Error No. 1).
- B. Does the State have a duty to protect third parties and particularly children from the foreseeable risk of harm when releasing sex predators back into the community consistent with the Supreme Court holding in *Peterson v. State*? (Assignment of Error No. 1).
- C. Did the plaintiff produce sufficient evidence pursuant to CR 56 to demonstrate that the damages suffered were proximately caused by the State's breach of its duty to supervise and control a dangerous sex offender? (Assignment of error No. 1)
- D. Does public policy support the legal duties expressed by Washington courts in *Joyce* and *Peterson* when it comes to protecting children from dangerous sex offenders? (Assignment of error No. 1)

IV. STATEMENT OF CASE

A. Adhahn violently rapes his half-sister in 1990.

Terapon Adhahn first entered the United States from Thailand in 1976. He was a legal resident of the U.S., but not a citizen. CP 282-284.

Adhahn first became known to authorities after raping his 15 yearold half-sister in March, 1990. CP 285-318. Adhahn was drunk. The victim fought back physically. During the rape, Adhahn held his young relative down, choked her, ripped her clothes off, punched her, threatened her with a knife, forced her thighs apart, smeared Vaseline on her vagina and anus, inserted his fingers into her anus, and vaginally raped her, repeatedly. CP 285-318. Adhahn was initially arrested for second degree rape, but was allowed to plead guilty to first degree incest in exchange for agreeing to five years of community supervision and sex offender treatment. CP 319-327. The prosecution fell apart largely because the victim's mother (who was also Adhahn's mother) pressured her not to cooperate with the prosecution. CP 485-488. Even in the plea documents, Adhahn minimized his crime, attributing his acts to alcohol. CP 628-331. In other accounts of the crime, he claims his half-sister had laid down with him and he does not remember what happened next. CP 285-318.

The plea agreement in Adhahn's 1990 conviction was driven primarily by a desire to see Adhahn subjected to lengthy supervision and

intensive therapy for his sexual deviance and other problems, rather than the relatively short sentence available on the incest charge. CP 513-521. A psychosexual evaluation and treatment plan completed by Dr. Michael Comte before Adhahn's sentencing on the 1990 rape concluded:

In summary, Mr. Adhahn's violent sexual assault on his half-sister provides ample evidence of his violent proclivities and assaultive potential, especially under the influence of alcohol. He is an angry and poorly controlled man with a plethora of psychological, emotional and behavioral problems. Long-term intensive psychotherapy and monitoring of his behavior will be necessary to ensure the safety of the community.

CP 247-257. The evaluation also found that Adhahn admitted to molesting his half-sister when she was three and he was twelve. CP 247-257. Adhahn was diagnosed with Paraphilia, Pedophilia (Prepubescent Female), Sadism and Rape, Dysthymia, Alcoholism, and a Personality Disorder with Borderline and Paranoid Features. CP 247-257. The evaluator specifically recommended intensive weekly individual and group psychotherapy monitored by polygraph and penile plethysmograph for "many years," sobriety because "under the influence of alcohol, he would be at extreme risk for further assaultive behavior," and "ongoing and active probation supervision... to ensure there is no relapse in his alcoholism and control of his anger and sexual impulses," with

"immediate court review of his probation" for any substance abuse violation. CP 247-257.

Adhahn was sentenced on September 4, 1990. The sentencing judge ordered 60 months of community supervision during which time Adhahn needed to complete inpatient sex offender treatment. There were several other sentencing conditions: "Remain within the state of Washington unless receives military orders reporting him from state. No contact with victim unless victim, her therapist (if any) and defendant therapist agree. Also receive and successfully complete alcohol counseling program." Adhahn was also required to "consume no drugs or alcohol or have contact with minor children." CP 241-246.

B. Adhahn's seven years of lax state supervision.

For the next seven years, DOC's supervision was characterized by negligence and a willingness to overlook the same behaviors that the psychosexual evaluation had identified as red flags. CP 211-234. Although Adhahn had been identified as a danger to the community, he was required to check in only once a month, and often did not even see his Community Corrections Officer ("CCO"), but filled out a form instead. The CCO rarely visited Adhahn's home or workplace, and had no idea of Adhahn's activities or associates in the community. CP 332-344; CP 212

and 219 at ¶¶ 7, 10(i). Although the conditions of Adhahn's supervision specifically forbade him to have contact with the victim, in 1996 he did—without repercussions. CP 332-344. Although the conditions of Adhahn's supervision specifically forbade him to leave the state, he was allowed to go to Texas for a wedding in 1994 and visit Thailand for a month in 1995—despite the fact that he was a child rapist and Thailand is a known haven for pedophiles. CP 218 at ¶ 10(h); CP 332-344.

After completing alcohol treatment in 1991, Adhahn was not monitored for alcohol use at all, despite a March, 1992 polygraph indicating that he was still drinking and "had continued to drink about a six pack a night on weekends." CP 345-352. Although Adhahn's discharge from alcohol treatment in 1991 noted that Adhahn needed to continue attending Alcoholics Anonymous meetings and "work closely with an AA sponsor," he never did, and his CCOs never required it or notified the court that Adhahn was not following through on the final conditions of his treatment. CP 332-344. Although Dr. Comte's evaluation clearly stated that Adhahn was a danger to the community when drinking and Adhahn's conditions of release required that he not drink, the DOC failed to monitor his alcohol use, failed to refer him to treatment when necessary, and failed to report Adhahn's violations to the sentencing judge. CP 211-234, CP 332-344.

Most glaringly, although the pre-sentencing psychosexual evaluation recommended that probation supervision be especially vigilant for relapses in alcoholism and anger control, the DOC failed to follow up on Adhahn's 1992 conviction for brandishing a weapon outside a bar (RCW 9.41.270). CP 258-268, CP 353-355. In the June 21, 1992 incident, Adhahn pointed a handgun at a man's chest, at point-blank range, outside a bar, then chased another man across the parking lot before being arrested. Both men feared for their lives. Adhahn was convicted after a one-day public trial in Tacoma Municipal Court on September 9, 1992, and was sentenced to five days in jail. CP 258-268, CP 353-355.

The Washington State Patrol notified Adhahn's CCO of the June 21st weapons arrest on August 17, 1992, but faced with this clear evidence of alcohol use, violence, possession of firearm, and impulse control problems from their sex offender, who "under the influence of alcohol...would be at extreme risk for further assaultive behavior," and who needed "ongoing and active probation supervision...to ensure there is no relapse in his alcoholism and control of his anger and sexual impulses," the DOC did nothing. CP 247-257, CP 332-344, CP 211-234.

The DOC failed to report the incident to the judge supervising Adhahn's sentence, and also failed to report Adhahn's later conviction to federal immigration authorities, who would have deported Adhahn for a second crime. CP 214 and CP 216 at ¶¶ 9, 10(c); CP 504-505 at ¶¶ 24-26; CP 513-521. Had the arrest been reported to the court, it is more likely than not that Pierce County prosecutors would have become aware of the incident and become aware of Adhahn's history and the fact that he was failing his SSOSA and treatment plan, and as a result, would have sought and obtained convictions for felon in possession of a firearm and failure to register as a sex offender. CP 513-521. And in fact, in 2007 after Adhahn became a suspect in the Linnik murder, Immigrations and Customs Enforcement detained him and prepared deportation proceedings on the basis that Adhahn had been convicted of two crimes of moral turpitude—the 1990 incest conviction and the 1992 intimidation with a weapon conviction—at that time the only convictions Adhahn had. CP 444-447.

The DOC also failed to refer the conviction to Pierce County prosecutors for pursuit of a charge of felon in possession. This is significant not just because it would have been a second felony, an additional crime of moral turpitude, and an aggravated felony, but also because INS generally learns of and pursues noncitizen felons when they are in jail. CP 216 at ¶ 10(c). Any jail time Adahn served, either for a new felony or for revocation of his SSOSA, would have been an additional opportunity for deportation. CP 216 at ¶ 10(c). In fact, doing

so was standard procedure when supervising a non-citizen. CP 214 and CP 216 at ¶¶ 9, 10(c).

The DOC also failed to follow up on Adhahn's apparent solicitation of a prostitute in 1994. CP 256-358. Adhahn's counselor said of this incident:

This may be cause for concern as it is the second issue within the past two years that involved TA in highly questionable situations. As you will recall, approximately one year ago, he had gone to a local night club, which was off limits to him. He became involved that evening with an individual who had a weapon on him. The latest incident similarly involves an individual of questionable character, but whom he says he knows vaguely. He will be submitting to a polygraph examination in January. This issue will be addressed more thoroughly then.

CP 356-358. The January 1995 polygraph report produced by the State shows that the issue was not addressed at Adhahn's next polygraph. CP 356-358. There is no indication that the "questionable situation," whatever it was, was ever dealt with. CP 332-344.

C. Adhahn completes once-a-week sex offender treatment and is deemed a success.

The DOC also failed to ensure that Adhahn's treatment complied with his sentence and with Dr. Comte's recommendations. The Sentencing Order clearly states Adhahn was to receive *inpatient* sex offender treatment. CP 241-246. Dr. Comte recommended *intensive individual counseling*. CP 247-257. Adhahn received neither. After his

sentencing, Adhahn failed to start treatment for sexual deviancy until ordered by the court. CP 362-367. When he finally did start weekly outpatient group therapy, Adhahn showed up, but did not participate, and did not take responsibility for his crimes. The mental health professional overseeing his counseling, Dr. Daniel DeWaelsche, noted: "It is my impression from Terapon's discussions that he does not understand the full significance of the need for him to attend therapy." CP 366-367. In a 1992 polygraph, Adhahn admitted to prior significant sexual deviancies, which had in the past included homosexual activity, peeping, and bestiality. CP 345-352. Adhahn would miss therapy sessions on a biweekly basis. These absences were reported to his CCO, but never dealt with. In one report, Dr. DeWaelsche stated: "Terapon has admitted that he has still not fully completed the assignments on methods to assist him in decreasing his sexually deviant arousal...." CP 376-378.

In short, Adhahn's treatment for sexual deviancy was as lax and pro forma as the rest of his supervision. The sentencing order required inpatient treatment, which never happened. CP 241-246. Dr. Comte's pre-sentencing treatment plan recommended that Adhahn receive intensive individual *and* group treatment monitored by polygraph and penile plethysmograph. CP 247-257. The DOC never ensured that Adhahn received inpatient therapy or any significant individual therapy, and his

group treatment was far less than "intensive." Adhahn's treatment failed to address the role of alcohol in his crime. Adhahn received only a few polygraphs. Therapeutic "assignments," particularly those regarding Adhahn's deviant arousal patterns, were allowed to languish for years with DOC's full knowledge. Adhahn's therapy was evaluated by plethysmograph exactly twice in five years, and the second plethysmograph happened only after Adhahn's sentencing judge ordered it. CP 269-270. Yet by the end of his treatment a few months later, Adhahn was deemed a success: "Terapon has demonstrated that he is using the skills and techniques, gleaned in sex-offender treatment, on a day-to-day basis to avoid recidivism," DeWaelsche wrote in 1997. "It has been a pleasure working with Terapon." CP 379-381.

D. DOC fails to report relevant information to immigration or the sentencing judge.

Before releasing Adhahn from supervision, the sentencing judge tried to ensure that Adhahn had not violated important conditions of his supervision. In a 1996 order issued prior to Adhahn's release, Judge Strombom ordered the State to "check for any criminal charges against the defendant since 11/90." CP 269-270. Even then, when the DOC was specifically ordered to look for new convictions, the DOC failed to report the 1992 weapons conviction to Judge Strombom or to immigration

authorities. CP 272-275. As a consequence, Adhahn's treatment and supervision were terminated on July 8, 1997. CP 216 at ¶ 10(c).

E. Adhahn is classified as a "low risk" offender despite his violent rape of a child and his psychological problems.

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