### NO. 67518-4-I

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SABRINA RASMUSSEN,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Defendant/Respondent.

### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ROBERT M. MCKENNA Attorney General



ERIC A. MENTZER, WSBA #21243 Assistant Attorney General PO Box 40126 Olympia, WA 98504-0126 (360) 586-6300 EricM@atg.wa.gov

#

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

#### **IV. ARGUMENT**

#### A. Summary Judgment Standard

Summary judgment is appropriate if the pleadings, depositions, admissions and affidavits on file show that there exists no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. A material fact is one upon which the outcome of litigation depends. *Amant v. Pacific Power & Light Co.*, 10 Wn. App. 785, 786, 520 P.2d 181 (1974), *aff'd*, 84 Wn.2d 872, 529 P.2d 829 (1975). Once the moving party has met its burden, the non-movant must then produce concrete evidence, without merely relying on allegations in the pleadings, that there remain genuine factual issues. *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby*, 477 U.S. 242, 248, 106 S. Ct. 2505, 91 L. Ed. 2d 202 (1986).

Our supreme court has characterized the facts necessary to oppose a motion for summary judgment as follows:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> State v. Onefrey, 119 Wn.2d 572, 835 P.2d 213 (1992), held that a sentencing court in 1990 could not impose a supervision period lasting more than two years in a SSOSA case in which the crime occurred in 1989, as is the case here. The impact of this case to Adhahn's sentence is addressed in detail below.

A fact is an event, an occurrence, or something that exists in reality . . . . It is what took place, an act, an incident, a reality as distinguished from supposition or opinion . . . . The "facts" required by CR 56(e) to defeat a summary judgment motion are evidentiary in nature. Ultimate facts or conclusions of fact are insufficient . . . . Likewise, conclusory statements of fact will not suffice . . . .

\*

Grimwood v. University of Puget Sound, Inc., 110 Wn.2d 355, 359-60, 753 P.2d 517 (1988) (citations omitted). Plaintiff did not – and could not – supply evidence sufficient to avoid summary judgment under these standards in the matter below.

## B. Plaintiff's Negligent Supervision Claim Is Unsupported Because She Failed To Prove The Existence Of A Duty Owed To Her By DOC And Because She Failed To Prove That Any Alleged Breach Of A Duty Proximately Caused Her Injuries

The elements of negligence are: (1) a duty owed by the defendant to the plaintiff; (2) breach of that duty; (3) an injury to the plaintiff; and (4) a proximate causal relationship between the defendant's breach and the plaintiff's injury. *Hansen v. Friend*, 118 Wn.2d 476, 479, 824 P.2d 483 (1992). In order to preclude summary judgment, a plaintiff must produce evidence of the existence of each of the four elements. *See Lettengarver v. Port of Edmonds*, 40 Wn. App. 577, 580, 699 P.2d 793 (1985).

Negligent supervision cases such as this are premised on the idea that a duty is created by the "take charge" relationship a supervising agency may have with parolees. *Taggart v. State*, 118 Wn.2d 195, 218,

822 P.2d 243 (1992). By its very nature – the "take charge" relationship – the duty has limitations. That is, if the agency has no relationship with the offender, there can be no duty. "DOC owes a duty to those who are injured during an offender's active supervision, not after it ends." *Hungerford v. State Dep't of Corr.*, 135 Wn. App. 240, 258, 139 P.3d 1131 (2006). The termination of DOC's relationship with Adhahn almost three years prior to his crime against Sabrina Rasmussen is therefore dispositive of plaintiff's claims.

### 1. DOC's Duty To Plaintiff Ended With The Court Order Terminating Supervision

"In a negligence action the threshold question is whether the defendant owes a duty of care to the injured plaintiff." *Schooley v. Pinch's Deli Market, Inc.*, 134 Wn.2d 468, 474, 951 P.2d 749 (1998). Whether a defendant owes a duty of care is a question of law, not a question of fact. *Osborn v. Mason County*, 157 Wn.2d 18, 23, 134 P.3d 197 (2006). When no duty of care exists, a defendant cannot be subject to liability for negligent conduct. *Lauritzen v. Lauritzen*, 74 Wn. App. 432, 438, 874 P.2d 861 (1994). The burden of establishing the existence of a duty is on the plaintiff. *Jackson v. City of Seattle*, 158 Wn. App. 647, 651, 244 P.3d 425 (2010).

The general rule at common law is that a person has no duty to prevent a third person from causing physical injury to another. *Taggart*, 118 Wn.2d at 218. The Washington Supreme Court recognized a narrow exception to this general rule when it held that a parole officer had a duty to control the conduct of a parolee under active supervision based on the "take charge" relationship between the officer and the parolee. The supreme court stated that the duty to prevent crimes by parolees arises from the parolee's relationship to the parole officer who has the statutory authority to supervise the offender, "within the conditions of a parolee's release from custody." *Taggart*, 118 Wn.2d. at 219; *Hertog v. City of Seattle*, 138 Wn.2d 265, 979 P.2d 400 (1999). Absent this limited duty, DOC owes no duty in common law or statute to persons injured by offenders under DOC supervision, or by offenders who have been released from DOC supervision.

Plaintiff seeks to extend this narrow exception far beyond the clear limitations set forth in Washington case law. In all cases in which a correctional agency has been held to have a duty to prevent injuries to plaintiffs, the offender was under supervision by the court or the agency at the time the injuries were inflicted. DOC is aware of no appellate court that has ever concluded that once an offender is under the supervision of a correctional agency, the agency is forever responsible for all crimes the offender commits for the rest of his or her life. Yet, this would be the result if this court were to adopt the rule plaintiff advances. Instead, the duty is premised on the concurrent existence of a "take charge" relationship and a tortious act. When the legal authority to control the offender's behavior ends, so, too, ends the duty. *Hungerford*, 135 Wn. App. at 258.

Despite plaintiff's claims to the contrary, *Hungerford* is controlling. In *Hungerford*, the estate of Jane Hungerford-Trapp sued DOC alleging it failed to adequately supervise an offender named Cecil Davis. *Id.* at 247. DOC began to supervise Davis in 1990 for felony assault. *Id.* In July of 1992, Davis completed his sentence and probation, but still had outstanding legal financial obligations. *Id.* In December 1992, Davis pled guilty to a gross misdemeanor. *Id.* Davis was sentenced to two years of probation, along with legal financial obligations. *Id.* 

Davis was at-large for approximately one year, before being arrested on suspicion of assault and rape in December 1993. *Id.* Davis remained incarcerated pending trial until February 1995 when he was released from custody. *Id.* at 247-48. Two days following his release from incarceration, DOC reported that Davis had failed to make payments on his misdemeanor legal financial obligations. *Id.* at 248. A warrant was issued for Davis' arrest. *Id.* On June 4, 1995, Davis was arrested for domestic violence assault and on the outstanding warrant. *Id.* 

On June 5, 1995, the court held a hearing and found that Davis' failure to pay was not willful and entered an order ending his "direct supervised probation" – but allowed his supervision for purposes of legal financial obligations to continue. *Id.* Like plaintiff here, *Hungerford* argued that alleged negligent acts that allowed supervision to end are a basis for imposing a duty of care for injuries that occur after supervision actually does end. The *Hungerford* court rejected that argument.

Hungerford argues that DOC breached that duty before June 5, 1995, and that this breach caused Hungerford-Trapp's death even though Davis was no longer under direct supervision. Although phrased as a question of proximate cause, Hungerford's argument also asks us to expand DOC's duty to supervise. Hungerford would have us impose a general duty on DOC to report probation violations and extend probation in order to prevent crimes that may occur after active probation supervision ends. We decline to do so.

*Hungerford*, 135 Wn. App. at 257 (emphasis added). In an attempt to bypass this dispositive legal principle, plaintiff mistakenly argues that the court's holding in *Hungerford* is dicta. Plaintiff is incorrect because that holding was necessary to the court's decision.

That court stated as follows: "We *hold* that once that special relationship ends, the exception to the public duty doctrine expires.

Therefore, DOC did not owe a duty to [plaintiff] after DOC's take charge relationship with [the offender] ended." *Id.* at 258 (emphasis added). Likewise, that holding is derived from prior supreme court precedent, which linked the duty to control an offender's dangerous propensities with the actual legal authority to do so. *See Taggart*, 118 Wn.2d at 218; *Hertog*, 138 Wn.2d 265. The *Hungerford* court repeated that holding:

We hold that the duty to supervise does not require DOC to prevent future crimes an offender might commit after his supervision ends even when the offender is placed on LFO status. DOC owes a duty to those who are injured during, not after, an offender's active supervision ends.

*Id.* at 258 (emphasis added). The court's decision in *Hungerford* is consistent with prior negligent supervision cases.

In Couch v. Washington Dep't of Corr., 113 Wn. App. 556, 54 P.3d 197 (2002), review denied, 69 P.3d 874 (2003), DOC was supervising the same violent offender who was the assailant in *Hungerford*. The offender murdered Mrs. Couch. The Couch family claimed that DOC was liable because the offender could have been in jail at the time of the murder if DOC had informed the sentencing court of the offender's failure to report and pay his LFOs.

The *Couch* court held that DOC did not have a duty to prevent the new crime because the agency did not have a "take charge" relationship with the offender as required by *Taggart*. *Couch*, 113 Wn. App. at 569.

The court held that the conditions of supervision determined whether DOC had "taken charge" of the offender and had a duty to prevent the crime by the offender. *Couch*, 113 Wn. App. at 565. The court stated:

To determine whether a supervising officer has "taken charge" of an offender within the meaning of *Taggart v. State* and *Restatement* §§ 315 and 319, a court must examine "the nature of the relationship" between the officer and that person, including all of that relationship's "[v]arious features." In most cases, two of the most important features, though not necessarily the only ones, will be the court order that put the offender on the supervising officer's caseload and the statutes that describe and circumscribe the officer's power to act. A community corrections officer must have a court order before he or she can "take charge" of an offender; and even when he or she has such an order, he or she can only enforce it according to its terms and applicable statutes.

*Couch*, 113 Wn. App. at 565 (emphasis added) (footnotes omitted). The *Couch* court further noted, if DOC is not authorized to intervene, it cannot have a duty to do so. *Couch*, 113 Wn. App. at 569; *see also Stenger v*. *State*, 104 Wn. App. 393, 404, 16 P.3d 655 (2001) (absent the ability, a defendant does not have the duty to control the conduct of a third person).

Again, the basis for imposing the duty in negligent supervision cases is the courts' perceived ability of the parole officer to control the conduct of the parolee while the parolee is under an agency's supervision. A necessary corollary to that is when the parole supervision terminates, so does the supervising agency's duty inasmuch as the agency no longer has any legal ability to control the parolee.

This same proposition has previously been recognized by the court in *Plotkin v. State Dep't of Corr.*, 64 Wn. App. 373, 826 P.2d 221 (1992). In *Plotkin*, while discussing the plaintiff's claims, the court stated:

[Plaintiff] did not allege negligent supervision of [the parolee], as opposed to negligent reporting to the Board, and indeed, it appears she could not have done so. [The parolee] was not on active supervision after 1981, and not on any supervision at the time of the assault.

*Plotkin*, 64 Wn. App. at 376. Without the existence of a court-imposed supervision requirement, there can be no duty to an offender's future victims.

The supreme court agrees: "The mere existence of some ability to control a third party is not the dispositive factor in determining whether a take charge duty exists; rather, the purpose and extent of such control defines the relationship for purposes of tort liability." *Sheikh v. Choe*, 156 Wn.2d 441, 453, 128 P.3d 574 (2006), citing *Taggart*, 118 Wn.2d at 220.

This case presents facts even more persuasive than those in the cases cited above. Here, a court order had relieved DOC of all responsibility in supervising Adhahn almost three years prior to the time he intentionally abducted and raped Sabrina Rasmussen (CP 150). Pursuant to that Order, defendant had no legal obligation or ability to

control Adhahn in any manner. That is, both legally and practically, DOC had neither the ability nor the duty to control the conduct of Adhahn at the time of his intentional criminal acts. Consequently, there was no duty owed by DOC to plaintiff. Absent such a duty, plaintiff's claim fails.

Plaintiff attempts to reframe this negligence issue by arguing her case is simply founded upon "basic negligence principles." Basic negligence principles, including that a party is not responsible for harm intentionally caused by a third party, establish that DOC owed no duty to plaintiff. It is only if she can show an *exception* to basic negligence principles that her claim can stand. As discussed above, she cannot show such an exception, and her claim thus fails.

Nor is the court's holding in *Hungerford* contrary to *Petersen v.* State, 100 Wn.2d 421, 671 P.2d 230 (1983), as plaintiff suggests. *Peterson* involved a psychiatrist's release of a patient while knowing that the patient posed a danger and a resulting accident that occurred only five days after that release. *Petersen*, 100 Wn.2d at 424. However, *Taggart* exposes plaintiff's misplaced reliance on *Petersen* and the Restatement of Torts because both were considered in *Taggart*.

In *Taggart*, the court confronted the issue of whether DOC owed a duty of care to members of the public injured by parolees based upon the relationship between a parole officer and the offender under supervision.

*Taggart*, 118 Wn.2d at 217. The court began its analysis by noting that the public duty doctrine normally precludes liability for breach of a duty that is owed to the public at large. *Id.* 

The court then recognized that exceptions to the public duty doctrine exist and focused its analysis on *Petersen* and the Restatement of Torts. *Id.* Ultimately, the court decided to extend the special relationship exception to the public duty doctrine it found in *Petersen* (based upon the *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 315) to the situations where DOC is supervising offenders. *Id.* As noted above, in doing so, the State Supreme Court specifically limited the imposition of a duty to cases involving a "definite, established *and continuing relationship between the defendant and the third party [offender].*" *Id.* at 219 (citing *Honcoop v. State,* 111 Wn.2d 182, 193, 759 P.2d 1188 (1988)). Thus, neither *Petersen* nor § 315 of the *Restatement of Torts* support Plaintiffs' argument that a duty of care is owed after active supervision ends. Under *Taggart*, the duty to exercise reasonable care to control a dangerous offender arises under § 319 of the *Restatement of Torts*.

Furthermore, contrary to plaintiff's assertions, there is no nebulous duty owed by the government to prevent harm to citizens.

Assuredly, Mason County has a "duty" to protect its citizens in a colloquial sense, but it does not have a *legal* duty to prevent every foreseeable injury . . . An "action

for negligence does not lie unless the defendant owes a duty of care to the plaintiff," . . ., and "a broad general responsibility to the public at large rather than to individual members of the public" simply does not create a duty of care.

Osborn v. Mason County, 157 Wn.2d 18, 28, 134 P.3d 197 (2006) (citations omitted). Osborn presented a more direct relationship in terms of proximity in time and control than the one presented here. Nevertheless, the supreme court affirmed summary judgment in favor of Mason County. Plaintiff's "basic negligence" argument is unsupported.

Despite these holdings, plaintiff requests that this court unilaterally expand the duty of DOC (and every other municipality in Washington that supervises offenders) to face legal liability in perpetuity for every bad act a former offender may commit. Plaintiff's invitation to expand "negligent supervision" duty should be rejected.

## 2. The Plaintiff Failed To Establish That The Breach Of A Duty By DOC Was The Factual Or Legal Cause Of Her Injuries When Supervision Of Her Assailant Ended Almost Three Years Prior To Her Injuries

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